The First Church of Epsom
By J. M. Moses

The pastorate of Rev. John Tucke began September 23, 1761, and ended June 18, 1774. Hisrecordswere
for many yearslost. Aslate as 1823, the pastor and historian, Rev. Jonathan Curtiss, did not know of their
existence. They wererecovered by the antiquarian, Samuel G. Drake, and deposited with the New Hamp-
shireHistorical Society. They seem to be complete, except that alittleisgonefrom thetop of one page,
which probably contained two or three entries of admissions of membersabout 1768.

They beginasfollows:. "April 18, 1761, | went to Epsom to preach. June 25, they gavemeacall. August
14, they renewed the call. August 17, | accepted the call. September 23, | wasordained. My venerable
father preached the sermon from 2 Timothy 2-1,* and then gave methe most sacred charge. The Reverend
Mr. Aaron Whittemore gave metheright hand of fellowship.”

The pastor thus ordained was ayoung man, barely twenty-one-yearsof age, who had graduated from
Harvard Collegein 1758. Hisfather wasthe Rev. John Tucke, for forty-oneyears pastor at Gosport, |Sles
of Shoals. Mr. Whittemore was pastor at Pembroke.

That thetown had been allowed to wait nearly thirty yearsafter its settlement before settling aminister, was
no doubt dueto itsrecognized inability to support one. Thosethirty yearshad been asad period of poverty
and sow growth. Towns settled |ater made much morerapid progress.

Thereisreasontothink that thefirst twenty families, required by the charter, were not permanently settled
before 1750. The censusof 1767 found only forty married men under sixty, forty married women, fivemen
over sixty, and two widows. In 1773 the corresponding numberswerefifty-three, fifty-three, one, and four.
Itisnot likely that the number of familiesin 1761 much exceeded thirty.

The meeting-house was not built until 1764, and thereisno record of aschoolhouse before 1765. We need
not, however, supposethat the people had lived thirty yearswithout religiousand secular ingtruction. Still
lesscan weimpute mental and moral inferiority to peoplewho could rear familiesand build up atown under
such difficultiesasthey encountered.

Mr. Tuckewasto have as a settlement one hundred acres of land, as provided by the charter. Hissalary
wasto bethirty poundssterling ayear thefirst two years, then thirty-five pounds, to beincreased to forty
poundswhen the number of familiesreached fifty; al so thirty cordsof wood ayear. Six hundred pounds,
Old Tenor, inlabor, wasvoted to build aparsonage. He married, March 4, 1762; probably about thetime
the parsonage wasfinished, Mary, daughter of Rev. Samuel Parsons, pastor at Rye.

The church was organized September 23, 1761, itscovenant being signed by thefollowing persons. Rev.
John Tucke, John Blake and wife Mary, Abraham, | saac, 1saac, Jr., and Reuben Libby, Nathan Marden,
William Wallace, Margaret, wife of Reuben Sanborn, Sr., and Widow Sarah Nason. October 9 therewere
added thewives of thetwo Isaac Libbys, and Joanna, daughter of 1saac, Sr. Thesefourteen wereregarded
astheorigina members.

Therecordsof the next twelve vears show additionsasfollows:

In 1761, John McClary and wife, Thomas Blake and wife, George Wallace and wife, Ephraim L ocke, and
thewives of Reuben Libby and Deacon Nathan Marden.

In 1762, Widow L ove Wormwood and Elizabeth, wife of Reuben Sanborn, Jr., then of Chichester.

In 1763, Samud Blakeand wife, John M cGaffey and wife, Jonathan Chapman and wife, Eunice, wife of
Samue Jackson, Mary, wife of ThomasBickford, and Nanny, wife of Richard Tripp.



In 1764, William Blakeand wife, Sarah, Sarah Marden, and Hepzibah Blake.

September 7, probably 1765, Widow AgnesMcClary.

December 5, 1766, John Worth and wife, Hannah, and Hannah, wife of Samuel Davis, werereceived by
dismission from churchesat Hampton Fallsand Exeter.

In November, 1767, Nathaniel Morrill and wife and Jeremiah Eastman and wife, from South Hampton and
Kensngton.

April 3,1768, Anna, wife of John Cass, from Epping.

In 1769, Samuel Bickford and wife, Mercy, and Samuel Perkinsof Deerfield.

In 1770, Joseph Worth and wife, Anna (dismissed from Hawke), Benjamin Goodwinand wife, Lydia,
Hannah, wife of Robert Mason of Deerfield, and Enoch Robieof Deerfield.

In1771, Moses L ockeand wife, Mary, and James Gray and wife, Jane.

October 3, 1773, Mary, wife of JohnWorth, Jr.

Thereisalist of members, without date, which includesthefollowing names, not mentioned above. Andrew
McClary, Samuel Marston, Joseph Chapman, Elizabeth Sanborn, John Worth, Jr., John Mason, Jonathan
Leavitt and wife, JamesMarden and wife, and thewife of aWilliam Wallace.

Thelastisinalist of membersthat had moved away, which hasthefollowing names: WilliamWallaceand
wife, Reuben Libby and wife, Widow Wormwood, Widow Nason, and William Blakeand wife. Only one
member isreported as deceased: Anne Libby. To thisshould be added, at | east, the names of Abraham
Libby and Samuel Bickford.

Therearerecordsof seventy-two members. They may not havebeenal; asitisplainthat Hr. Tuckefailed
to enter someadmissions, aswell asother facts, that heintended to record. Therecordsare not freefrom
mistakesin namesof women and children.

Besidesthe membersin full communion, thefollowing twenty-six are-recorded asreceived into the baptis-
ma covenant relations. JamesWood and wife, Mary; Andrew McClary and wife, Elizabeth; Elipha et San-
born and wife, Margaret; Samuel M osesand wife, Bridget; William Moses, Jenny M oses, Jeremiah
Prescott and wife, Jenny; AbrahamWallace; Ithiel Clifford; Josiah Sanborn; Simeon Chapman and wife,
Mary; Edmund Rand and wife, Abigail; Ebenezer Wallace and wife, Sarah; Edmund Leavitt and wife,
Mehetabdl ; Daniel Pageand wife Mary (of Deerfield), and Betty, wife of Benjamin Hill, later of Northwood.
Thesewerenot dl, aschildren of otherswere baptized.

Therearerecordsof one hundred and sixty-seven baptismsof children, and among them, of thefollowing
threeadults: Mr. Tucke's servant, Abraham; Phebe, ayoung woman, about twenty, no surnamegiven; and
Samue Blake'sman-servant, who seemsnot to have had even afirst name.* Theinfant baptismswere
printed in the Boston Transcript January 23 and February 11, 1907. It wasevidently alarge proportion of
thetown's peoplethat became connected with the church; though the listsinclude quiteanumber from
Chichester and Deerfield, where churches had not yet been established. From Mr. Tucke'santecedents, and
evident successin apioneer community, thereisevery presumption that hewasaman of ability and per-
sona worth; and, . although hispastorate ended in astorm, thereisno reason to think hisfaultswere greater
than arecommon to both clergy and laity. Thereisnot enough preserved, in recordsor tradition, to giveus
much acquaintancewith hispersond peculiarities.

By thelatter part of 1773, someof theleading citizenshad become serioudy disaffected; among them,
Capt. Andrew McClary, Doctor Williams and Jeremi ah Prescott, who madeformal complaint. Ephraim
Locke, alsohad " grievances," quiteanumber, it would seem, asameeting was appointed to settle ™ some"
of them. A change of pastor had become expedient.

Had the church been freeto act, thismight have been effected without scandal . But the consent of acouncil
was necessary; and, asin adivorce case, there must be charges.

January 3, 1774, thetown voted to call acouncil " to settlethe difficulties subsi sting between the Rev. John
Tucke and theinhabitants of Epsom.” Six weekslater achurch meeting, thinly attended because of a



snowstorm, voted the same.

The council met March 15, and reported March 18. Thereport fillsfour finely written pages of thetown
records. Astwelve men had spent three daysinvestigating complaintsagainst Mr. Tucke, we should bewell
informed of hisfaults.

No seriouschargewas sustained. In some small businesstransactions he had taken liberties, apparently not
complained of at thetime. In general, hewas not disposed to over-reach, as"it evidently appearsto usthat
Mr. Tuckedid not take the advantage when he had fair opportunities, and freely offered to pay indivers
instanceswhat personsknew of noclamto.”

Astodischargeof pastora duties, theonly seriouscriticism made by the council wasthefollowing: " We
think Mr. Tucke chargeable with neglect of duty in not visiting Mr. Ward when desired; and we can't but
censure hishard speecheswith regard to some of the church and people.”

Mr. Tucke humbly acknowledged himsalf guilty of the" faultsand follies" of which the council had convicted
him, and asked theforgivenessof church and people, promising reparation to any that had been wronged.
Thereupon the council advised the continuance of his pastoratefor three months, inthe hopethat the
discontent would subside, giving thetown permissionto dismisshim after that time.

The council also gave good adviceto the peopl e, deploring the " heat and passion” shown by Mr. Tucke's
accusers, andtheir effortsto "magnify small andtrivial matters' into grave crimes, and regretting "that many
haveforsaken the house, and somethetable, of the L ord, and (assomeexpressit inyour articles of
charge), wandered among devouring wolves."

June 18 thetown voted to dismissMr. Tucke, and "that the meetinghouse' shall be shut upttill thetown sees
causeto open said houseagain.” Oneamost wondersif they did not nail up thedoor.

ThusMr. Tucke'sministry closed under acloud. Hislifewent out afew yearslater, under circumstances of
unusual sadness. Hedied at Salem, New York, February 9, 1777, probably of smallpox, while on hisway
tojointhe Revolutionary army aschaplain, leaving awidow, and at least six children.

Thecensusof 1790 found Widow Mary Tuckein Epsom, ashead of afamily of five: two malesover sixteen
and threefemal es. The homestead was sold February 15, 1797, to Simon Ames Hesath, the deed being
signed by thefollowing heirs: Samuel Rand of Ryeand wife Polly (Tucke), Samuel J. Tuckeof Bostonand
wife Judith (Gardiner), Simeon Drake of Pittsfield and wife Love (Tucke), and Joseph, Richard and Abigail
Tucke of Boston. October 3, 1797, thewidow, then of Pittsfield, deeded her interest in the same.

We may imaginethat Mr. Tucke'sdismissal and sudden death | eft the peopl e divided in sympathies.
Whether from this cause, or from the burdens of the Revolutionary War, it was nearly ten yearsbefore
another pastor was settled. Then camethethirty years pastorate of the Rev. Ebenezer Haseltine (beginning
January 21, 1784, and ending November 10, 1813), who had the good fortuneto diein office, and have his
virtuesproclaimedin hisfunera sermon, instead of hisfaults, inthereport of acouncil. Hisgravestone
declareshim"Anlsradlite, indeed, inwhomwasno guile." Heleft, however, asmaller number of church
membersthan wereleft by Mr. Tucke. Perhaps Mr. Tucke caught themwith guile.

Itisgreatly to be. regretted that Mr. Haseltine'srecordsarelost. It ishoped they arein existence, and may
yet find their way to companionship with those of Mr. TuckeintheHistorical Library.

A memorid stone marksthesite of thefirst church. The cemetery, intherear, isat least one hundred and
fifty yearsold, and containsmany hundred graves. At least two hundred and fifty may be counted that are
marked with only common fieldstones, uninscribed.

Theoldest inscribed stone, onwhich only afew lettersare now traceable, isamong the McClary graves,
near the southwall, andisprobably that of that thefirst Andrew McClary. Near by arethe gravesof the
Sanborns, Eliphaet and others; and near them, those of Samuel Blake and wife Sarah. He"died Aug. 19,
1801, aged 83 years. Oneof thefirst settlers of Epsom.” Sarah "died June 27, 1804, aged 68 years."
Their gravestones, and many others, have pious sentimentsand tributes of affection, inproseand verse.
That of Col. Daniel Cilley (1768-1842), hasthefollowing interesting profession of faith: "Hedied inthefull



belief of theuniversal salvation of al mankind."

Among the Locke graveswefind arough stonelettered asfollows: "E. L. B. P. 10, 1730. D. M. 7, 1798";
and at theleft of it another, lettered"E. L. J. B.M. 5,1761. D. F. 7, 1771." These are supposed to bethe
gravesof Ephraim Lockeand ason, Ephraim, Jr.

Among the Bickford gravesisarough stone, with lettersnow only partly legible. We cantracetheletters
"M.B.B....D.." Thisisevidently thegrave of Widow Mercy Bickford, who died at great ageinApril,
1824. The uninscribed grave besideit isdoubtlessthat of her husband, Samuel Bickford, who diedinApril
or May 1773. Thesewere probably the earliest settlersthat now have descendantsin town bearing the
family name. One of them isthe venerable Benjamin Bickford, who haslately passed hisninetieth birthday.
* |1 Timothy 2:1. 'o Thou therefore, my son, bestrong inthegracethat isin Christ Jesus.”

* Asregardsdavery In Epsom the censusof 1767 found no slavesthere. That of 1773 found two.



